WOOA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 17 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES MONROE RAULERSON,	)		
Petitioner,	)		
٧.	)	CASE NO.	79,051
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
Respondent,	)		
	•		

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR #0664261
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged petitioner, JAMES MONROE RAULERSON, with robbery with a firearm, aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon.  $(R11)^1$  The state filed and served notice of intent to seek sentencing of Mr. Raulerson as a habitual violent felony offender. (R17)

Trial commenced before Circuit Judge John Southwood. (T1)

At the conclusion of the state's case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal and asserted that the state had failed to present legally sufficient evidence that Raulerson possessed a gun during the robbery. (T168) The motion was denied. (T169-172)

The defense rested without presenting evidence. (T175)

A defense request for an instruction on circumstantial evidence was denied. (T192) A state request for an instruction on a permissible inference from the defendant's flight was granted. (T193) During deliberations, the jury submitted a

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Herein, references to pleadings, orders, etc., appear as (R[page number]), while transcript citations appear as (T[page number]).

written question: "Please give us a definition of 'in flight', where it begins, ends." (T260) Defense counsel objected to any reinstruction and requested that the court inform the jurors to rely on their recollections of the facts and instructions. (T261) The judge said that he could not specifically answer the question but would reread the robbery instruction if the jurors wished. (T265) They did, and the court reinstructed them on robbery with and without a firearm, following an admonition against overemphasizing this instruction in relation to the others. (T266-269) Five minutes later, the jury found Raulerson guilty of robbery with a firearm as charged. (R36, T270)

A motion for new trial was filed and denied. (R37, T278)

The state produced evidence of two convictions for armed robbery, both obtained on the same date in 1979. (R39-41, T284-286) The state also produced an affidavit from an official in the Department of Corrections showing a release date of July 21, 1988 on sentences for those crimes. (R33-34, T289-290) Defense counsel objected to the second judgment and sentence as well as the affidavit, but produced no evidence in rebuttal. (T288, 298) The judge found Raulerson to be a habitual violent felony offender, and imposed a sentence of life imprisonment with 15-year mandatory minimum term, as well as a three-year mandatory minimum term for use of a firearm. (R63-66, T307-308) The court evidently considered the length of the habitual offender sentence to be nondiscretionary. (T302)

Timely notice of appeal was filed and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Raulerson in this

appeal. (R69-70) The First District Court of Appeal affirmed petitioner's judgment and sentence in a written opinion. (See Appendix) This Court postponed a decision on jurisdiction and ordered the parties to submit briefs.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

James Raulerson robbed a Barnett Bank in Jacksonville on July 20, 1990, (T32) His head swathed in gauze and his face partially covered by bandages, he walked up to teller Susan Lawrence and handed her a note stating "I have a gun. Put all your money in the green bag.'' (T33-36) Lawrence complied. She testified that Raulerson kept one hand in a jacket pocket, but that she never saw a gun or a bulge or outline in the jacket indicating a gun. (T40-41) Juanita Wright, at the next teller station, noticed the man, but was unaware a robbery was occurring. (T48) She also testified that she saw no bulge or protrusion from Raulerson's jacket that suggested he had a gun. (T48)

Drive-in teller Cynthia Rhinehart noticed a silent alarm that Lawrence had activated when Raulerson left the building.

(T57) Upon seeing Raulerson walk to his car in the parking lot, she asked a customer in the drive-in, Fred Bedran, to follow him.

(T59) Bedran followed and caught up with the car, a blue

Chevette, and wrote down the tag number. (T67-68) Bedran testified that the driver of the car evidently noticed Bedran was following him and waved an object for Bedran to see. (T68) It wasn't a bank bag, according to Bedran, but neither could he be certain it was a gun. (T69, 72) Bedran had noticed nothing suggesting a gun as he watched Raulerson get in the car at the bank. (T71) After getting the tag number, Bedran passed the car, went back to the bank and gave the number to police. (T70)

M.J. Kravinsky, a police officer, found Raulerson's car at a hotel several miles from the bank, about 40 minutes after the robbery. (T80) The car was backed up to a hotel room. (T80) As he waited for assistance, Kravinsky saw Raulerson come out of the room and place something in the passenger side of the car. (T81) A second police car arrived. (T82) Raulerson got into the car as a third police car arrived, drove between two police cars trying to block him and led the officers on a chase. (T83) During the pursuit, Kravinsky saw Raulerson lean toward the passenger floorboard of the car. (T92) Eventually, Raulerson's car stopped in a residential driveway. (T91) The driver's door cracked open, and Raulerson again leaned to the passenger side of the car. (T93) Officers then heard a gunshot. (T93) A few seconds later, Raulerson fell out of the driver's side onto the ground. shot himself in the stomach. (Tl01-102) Officers found the gun on the front passenger floorboard of the Chevette. (T102)

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), facially violates state and federal constitutional guarantees against twice being placed in jeopardy for the same offense. A statute is void on its face if it cannot be applied constitutionally in any conceivable situation. In every case in which it is used, application of section 775.084(1)(b) fixates on the nature of a prior felony to the exclusion of any criteria for the instant offense, so extensively that it constitutes a second punishment for the prior felony. Thus, on its face, the provision violates the Double Jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution.
- 11. This Court recently held that petitioner's offense, robbery with a firearm, is a first-degree felony subject to habitual offender enhancement. The Court reasoned that to exclude this offense from operation of the habitual offender statute while permitting enhancement of less serious offenses would be contrary to the policy of the statute and would encourage undercharging crimes to avoid ineligibility for an enhanced sentence. However, the same kinks plague the exclusion of life felonies from habitual offender enhancement. Defendants convicted of life felonies (second-degree murder with a firearm, kidnapping with sexual battery, sexual battery with threat of great violence and with a firearm) are exempted from habitual offender enhancement, though they are by definition more severe than first-degree felonies. The exclusion of life felonies also

operates **as** a disincentive to prosecutors to charge life felonies when they may charge a first-degree felony which subjects the accused to habitual offender enhancement. No rational basis for the distinction exists, for a life sentence is possible without habitual offender enhancement both for life felonies and first-degree felonies punishable by life. Additionally, because petitioner's offense is already subject to an extended sentence, he is excluded by the language of section 775.084(1)(a) from habitual offender enhancement. The same extended sentence is already authorized elsewhere.

111. The case must be remanded for the trial court to reconsider the sentence imposed under section 775.084(4)(b)1, as within its discretion.

IV. The state failed to present competent, substantial evidence that Raulerson carried a firearm during the robbery or in flight after its commission. No one at the scene of the robbery saw a firearm, and a witness who followed the defendant from the scene could not be sure that an object Raulerson waved from inside a moving car was a gun. Although he did possess a firearm while attempting to elude police who found him at a hotel after the robbery, a construction of the term "flight after the commission" necessary to avoid unconstitutionality renders this evidence insufficient to satisfy the firearm element. Accordingly, the conviction must be reduced to simple robbery.

Although the district court rejected this argument without comment, petitioner presents it anew because it is an issue of

constitutional dimension, calling into question whether a portion of the robbery statute is void for vagueness.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. ON ITS FACE, SECTION 775.084(1)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), VIOLATES THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSES OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

The district court affirmed Raulerson's sentence partly on the authority of <a href="Perkins v. State">Perkins v. State</a>, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <a href="Perkins v. State">rev. pending</a>, No. 78,613. In his concurring opinion, Judge Zehmer stated: "Because I have serious concern that section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), is <a href="facially">facially</a> unconstitutional, my concurrence is made with the same reservations discussed in my special concurring opinion in <a href="Hall v. State">Hall v. State</a>, 588 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)". <a href="Ld">Ld</a>, at 1103 (emphasis added). In <a href="Hall">Hall</a>, Judge Barfield joined in a concurring opinion in which Judge Zehmer wrote:

The issue presented in Perkins and in this case are identical. Although the instant offense for which appellant was sentenced was not a <u>violent</u> felony, appellant was sentenced as a habitual <u>violent</u> felony offender based on the fact that his prior conviction (for which he has presumably already served his sentence) met the statutory definition of violent felony. Had appellant been sentenced as a habitual felony offender pursuant to section 775.084(1)(a) based on the nature of the instant offense rather than as a habitual violent felony offender based on the nature of his prior conviction, the sentence would necessarily have been less under section 775.084(4). view the imposition of the extent of punishment for the instant criminal offense based on the nature of the prior conviction as effectively imposing a second punishment on defendant solely based on the nature of his prior offense, a practice I had thought was prohibited by the Florida and United States Constitutions. This new statutory procedure is entirely different from the former concept of enhancing sentences of habitual offenders having prior offenses without regard of the

nature of the prior felony, which **has** been upheld in this state and all other jurisdictions.

Id, at 1089 (emphasis in original).

Although petitioner's instant offense is a violent enumerated felony, the prospect of facial unconstitutionality of the habitual violent offender provisions of section 775.084 calls into question the validity of his sentence and all those sentenced as habitual violent felony offenders since the 1988 amendment creating this sentencing category.

A statute is void on its face if it cannot be applied constitutionally in any conceivable situation. City Council v. Taxpayers for Vincent, 466 U.S. 789, 796 (1984); Voce v. State, 457 So.2d 541 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), rev. denied, 464 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1985). In every case in which it is used, application of section 775.084(1)(b) focuses on the nature of a prior felony to the exclusion of any criteria for the offense leading to its use, so extensively as to constitute a second punishment for the prior felony. Thus, on its face, the provision violates the Double Jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida

To punish a defendant as a habitual violent felony offender under section 775.084(1)(b) & (4)(b), the state need only show that he or she has one prior offense within the past five years for a violent felony enumerated within the statute. The current offense need meet no criteria, other than that it be a felony committed within five years of commission, conviction or

conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense.

Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: that the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The almost exclusive focus on this prior offense renders use of the statute a second punishment for that offense, violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions. When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the amended habitual offender statute -- as is the case here -- the statute's use also violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws.

Habitual **offender** and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence was based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing, **See**, e.q., Gryger v. **Burke**, **334** U.S. 728 (1948). There the Court explained:

The sentence as a fourth offender or habitual criminal is not to be viewed as either **a** new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier crimes. It is **a** stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.

Id. at 728. Using the same reasoning, Florida's courts have also rejected challenges based on double jeopardy arguments. See generally, Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962);

Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956); Cross v. State, 96

Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928). If the provisions in question were more concerned with repetition, the inquiry might end here. The only repetition on which this portion of the statute dwells,

however, is the repetition of crime, not the repetition of violent crime. Its focus on the character of the prior crime, without regard to the nature of the current offense, distinguishes Florida's habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme from previous enhanced sentencing provisions. This distinction is the point at which the amended statute on its face runs afoul of constitutional double jeopardy clauses.

Apart from Judge Zehmer's concurring opinions, the First District Court of Appeal has not meaningfully addressed this distinction. In <a href="Perkins v. State">Perkins v. State</a>, <a href="Supra">supra</a>, the Court rejected the same arguments made here, on the authority of <a href="Washington">Washington</a>, <a href="Cross">Cross</a> and <a href="Reynolds">Reynolds</a>, concluding that "the reasoning of these cases is equally applicable to this enactment.'' <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 1104. <a href="Perkins">Perkins</a> thus left unaddressed the constitutional implications identified by Judge Zehmer in his concurrence in this <a href="Case">Case</a> and in <a href="Hall">Hall</a>, <a href="Supra">supra</a>. Significantly, this court in <a href="Reynolds">Reynolds</a> qualified its rejection of a double jeopardy challenge to the statute on a construction which barred consideration of prior offenses for which the defendant had already completed his or her sentence. The court declined to adopt a contrary construction, reasoning:

Such an interpretation goes too far. it is not consistent with the theory that recidivist legislation does not create a separate crime but that it merely prescribes an enhanced punishment for the last offense committed. Such a construction of our statutes would require a re-examination of our prior position that these acts do not violate our constitutional guarantees that a person shall not be placed twice in jeopardy for the same offense,

138 So.2d at 504. Similarly, a recidivist statute the operation of which depends solely upon the character of a prior offense for its operation compels a new examination of its constitutional implications. Section 775.084(1)(b) rests so heavily on the prior offense that it creates a second punishment for that crime.

The amended statute also differs from recidivist schemes focused on repetition of a particular type of crime. In United States v. Leonard, 868 F.2d 1393 (5th Cir. 1989), enhancement of a sentence under a federal enhancement statute was upheld against an ex post facto attack. Leonard was convicted of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and sentenced under the Armed Career Criminal Act, which authorized increased punishment for that offense upon proof of conviction of three prior enumerated violent or drug felonies. Id. at 1394-1395. In contrast to the statute at issue here, the federal statute applied exclusively to persons convicted of a specific offense, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. In that respect, the defendant was being punished primarily for the instant offense, as held by the court. Id. at 1400. The Florida provisions at issue focus not on any specific offense pending for sentencing, but on the character of a prior offense for classification purposes. Consequently, an offender subjected to the operation of S. 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes, is being punished more for the prior offense than for the current one. In effect, as noted by Judge Zehmer in Hall, this then is a second punishment for the prior offense, barred by the state and federal constitutions.

In all its potential applications, section 775.084(1)(b) violates constitutional Double Jeopardy clauses. An offender with a qualifying prior enumerated felony comes within its purview regardless of whether he is being sentenced for a felony bad-check offense or an armed robbery. The statute dictates ignorance of the type of crime it purports to punish in the initial determination whether an offender qualifies for enhancement as a habitual violent felon. Therefore, regardless of the character of the instant offense, application of the habitual violent felon provisions amounts to a second punishment for the prior qualifying offense in every case. For these reasons, on its face, section 775.084(1)(b) violates the Double Jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. Raulerson must be resentenced without resort to this unconstitutional provision.

11. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING RAULERSON AS A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELON FOR ARMED ROBBERY, AN OFFENSE FOR WHICH AN EXTENDED TERM OF IMPRISONMENT IS ALREADY AUTHORIZED AND WHICH CONSEQUENTLY IS NOT SUBJECT TO HABITUAL OFFENDER ENHANCEMENT.

The district court affirmed appellant's life sentence as a habitual offender on the authority its decision in <a href="Burdick v.">Burdick v.</a>
<a href="State">State</a>, 584 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). This Court recently affirmed the district court's holding in <a href="Burdick">Burdick</a> that the habitual offender statute may be used to sentence offenders convicted of first-degree felonies punishable by life imprisonment. <a href="No.">No.</a> 78,466, 17 FLW S88 (Fla. Feb. 6, 1992)

Rehearing is pending in <a href="Burdick">Burdick</a>. Petitioner had argued that his crime, robbery with a firearm, is not subject to habitual offender enhancement. In light of <a href="Burdick">Burdick</a>, petitioner presents the following argument on the ramifications of the decision as well as a perspective not expressly addressed by this court therein.

Robbery with a firearm is a first degree felony punishable by life imprisonment. The Court held in <u>Burdick</u> that this is not a separate category of **offense**, but merely a first-degree felony with an alternative punishment. Therefore, the offense qualifies for enhancement under the habitual offender statute, which expressly covers first-degree felonies. Under this Court's reasoning, Rule 3.988, which promulgates guideline scoresheets, must be amended to eliminate point enhancement for a first degree felony punishable by life. Otherwise, an offender who would have received a shorter guideline sentence but for the enhanced scoring has received an unlawful sentence enhancement.

More fundamentally, this Court's holding demonstrates the irrationality and arbitrary classifications of the amended habitual offender statute. From Burdick:

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