WOOA



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES MONROE RAULERSON,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,051

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS BUREAU CHIEF FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

AMELIA L. BEISNER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 832413

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner first asserts that the habitual violent felony offender provision, Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989), is unconstitutional because it does not require that both the current and prior (predicate) offenses be "violent" felonies. However, because both petitioner's prior offense and his current offense were violent felonies enumerated in the statute, petitioner does not have standing to assert the constitutional challenge he makes here. Furthermore, even if petitioner does have standing, his argument is without merit in light of this Court's previous decisions upholding habitual offender provisions similar to that enacted by the legislature in Section 775.084(1)(b).

Petitioner next argues that he was improperly sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender on his conviction for a so-called "first degree felony punishable by life." Because this Court dispositively determined in <u>Burdick v.</u> <u>State</u>, <u>infra</u>, that such felonies are subject to sentencing under the habitual offender provision, petitioner's argument must fail.

Petitioner's third argument ,here is that this Court should remand the case to the trial court for resentencing so that the trial court may consider the length of petitioner's sentence as within its discretion. Because petitioner has wholly failed to meet his burden of making error clearly appear by demonstrating that the trial court

- 5 -

believed the sentence was mandatory, this Court is under no duty to consider this claim. Moreover, because it is apparent that the trial court would have imposed a life sentence in petitioner's case regardless of whether that sentence was mandatory or discretionary, this Court must reject petitioner's request that the case be remanded.

Finally, petitioner contends that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal on the charge of robbery with a firearm. Because this argument is beyond the scope of the jurisdiction invoked by petitioner in his jurisdictional brief, this Court should decline to address it. Further, even if the Court should decide to address petitioner's argument, that argument must fail because the State presented evidence from which the jury could find beyond a reasonable doubt that petitioner carried a gun either during the robbery or in the ensuing flight therefrom.

- 6 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

SECTION 775.084(1)(B), FLA. STAT. (1989) IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Petitioner contends that Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla. the habitual violent felony offender Stat. (1989), provision, is facially unconstitutional because "[i]n every is in which it used, application of section case 775.084(1)(b) focuses on the nature of a prior felony to the exclusion of any criteria for the offense leading to its use, so extensively as to constitute a second punishment for the prior felony," While petitioner purports to raise a challenge to the facial constitutionality of the statute, it is apparent from the body of his argument that he believes the statute is unconstitutional because it does not require that both the current and prior (predicate) offenses be "violent" offenses." Hence, petitioner is in reality challenging the statute on the ground that it is unconstitutional as applied to those whose current offense is not an enumerated "violent" felony. As petitioner himself acknowledges, however, both his prior offense and his current offense are enumerated violent felonies.

- 7 -

For example, petitioner complains that "[a]n offender with a qualifying prior enumerated felony comes within its purview regardless of whether he is being sentenced for a felony **bad-check** offense or an armed robbery. The statute dictates ignorance of the type of crime it purports to punish in the initial determination whether an offender qualifies for enhancement as a habitual violent felon." Petitioner's brief at 14.

Petitioner therefore does not have standing to raise the alleged "facial" challenge to the habitual violent felony offender statute which he makes here, and this Court must reject his claim.

Even assuming that petitioner does have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the habitual violent offender statute, his argument here must fail. Petitioner claims that the habitual violent felony offender statute violates the state and federal constitutional provisions against double jeopardy because "the enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little for the prior, violent felony." heed, but instead Petitioner's brief at 11. Acknowledging that the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and the Florida district courts have rejected similar arguments over the past two centuries, petitioner nevertheless maintains his position, relying on a concurring opinion from Judge Zehmer in an unrelated case. Petitioner's argument is without merit.

It appears that petitioner's argument here is premised on the third protection provided by the double jeopardy clause, i.e., the prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>United States v. Di</u> <u>Francesco</u>, 449 U.S. 117, 66 L.Ed.2d **328**, 340, 101 S.Ct. 426 (1980). It is obvious that the two offenses involved here, the 1979 armed robbery offense² and the current armed

 $^{^2}$ The State actually established that petitioner had <u>two</u>

robbery offense, are separate offenses because they **are** separate in time. Hence, the double jeopardy clause would be violated here only if the current punishment was imposed for the 1979 offense rather than for petitioner's current armed robbery conviction. The record is clear, however, that petitioner was sentenced by the trial court in the instant case for the **1990** armed robbery, and that his prior punishment for the **1979** offense was not altered in any way (R 63-66). Consequently, no double jeopardy violation exists.

Again, petitioner's argument is that because the penalty for the current offense was enhanced due to the violent nature of his prior offense, he has been twice sentenced for the original offense. Clearly, if this Court were to give credence to petitioner's claim, it would have to reject two hundred years of habitual offender case law and reject all cases which denote the scope of the double jeopardy clause. Moreover, this Court would be required to invalidate the sentencing guidelines and the capital sentencing procedures, both of which also aggravate a defendant's current sentence based on the nature and seriousness his or her prior offenses.

Such radical action is not necessary because as this Court so aptly stated in <u>Cross v. State</u>, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380, **386** (Fla. 1928):

armed robbery convictions in 1979, for which he was released from prison on July 21, 1988 (TIV 299).

'The propriety of inflicting severer punishment upon old offenders has long been recognized in this Country and in England. They are not punished the second time for the earlier offense, but the repetition of criminal conduct aggravates their guilt and justifies heavier penalties when they are again convicted.' As was said in People v. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113, 17 Am. Rep. 401: 'The punishment for the second [offense] is increased, because by **his** persistence in the perpetration of crime he [the defendant] has evinced a depravity, which merits a greater punishment, and needs to be restrained by severer penalties than if it were his first And as was said by Chief offense.' Justice Parker in Rass' Case, 2 Pick. (Mass.) 165: 'The punishment is for the offense committed, and last it is rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself.' The statute does not make it an offense or crime for one to have been convicted The more than once. law simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior convictions taken connection with the in subsequent offense demonstrates the incorrigible and dangerous character of accused thereby establishing the necessity for enhanced restraint. The imposition of such enhanced punishment is not а prosecution of or punishment for the former convictions. The Constitution forbids such action. The enhanced punishment is an incident to the last offense alone. But for that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (quoting <u>Graham v. West Virginia</u>, 224 U.S. 616 (1912) (citationomitted)). See <u>also Washington v. Mayo</u>, 91 So.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 1956); <u>Reynolds v. Cochran</u>, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); <u>Conley v. State</u>, No. 90-1745 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 2, 1992); and Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (again rejecting the Same argument raised here by petitioner).

As is evident from the above sampling of cases, "[recidivist] statutes are neither new to Florida nor to modern jurisprudence. Recidivist legislation . . . has repeatedly withstood attacks that it violates constitutional rights against ex post facto laws, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, **denies** defendants equal protection of the law, violates due process or involves double jeopardy.'' Reynolds, **138** So.2d at 502-03.

Petitioner's argument ignores other significant facts relating to habitual offender sentencing in Florida. For example, the 1988 changes to the habitua offender statute actually narrowed the pool of defendants who could be classified as habitual offenders. Under the statutory scheme approved in Reynolds and in effect until October of 1988, any defendant with one prior felony Of any type was subject to habitualization. Since this Court has previously determined that the legislature may constitutionally enhance the sentences of all defendants based on the commission of one prior felony of any kind, the Court must likewise hold that the legislature has the authority to enhance the sentences of defendants who commit the most serious offenses the commission of one prior violent felony. based on Further, because the legislature can, without violating the double jeopardy clause, distinguish between the nature of an

offense (felony vs. misdemeanor) in determining the number of offenses required to habitualize, it certainly can distinguish between violent and nonviolent felons in determining how many prior offenses will subject a defendant to habitualization. Accordingly, Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989) does not violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy, and petitioner's argument to the contrary must fail,

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER AFTER HE WAS CONVICTED OF A FIRST DEGREE FELONY PUNISHABLE BY LIFE.

Petitioner contends he was improperly sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender on the armed robbery charge because the habitual violent felony offender statute does not apply to so-called "first degree felonies punishable by life." However, this Court in <u>Burdick v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. S88 (Fla. Feb. 6, 1992), <u>reh'g.</u> <u>denied</u>, Case No. 78,466 (Fla. Mar. 25, 1992), determined dispositively that first degree felonies punishable by life are indeed punishable under the habitual offender statute. Petitioner's argument therefore must fail.

ISSUE III

PETITIONER HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED THAT THE TRIAL COURT BELIEVED THE SENTENCE IT IMPOSED WAS **MANDATED** BY SECTION **775.084**.

Petitioner next argues that this case must be remanded for resentencing so that the trial court may "reconsider the sentence as within its discretion." Petitioner's brief at 19. Petitioner wholly failed to raise this argument either before the trial court or in his brief before the First District. Consequently, neither of the courts below had an opportunity to address petitioner's argument, and this Court simply should not permit petitioner to raise it for the first time in his merits brief before this Court. The Court therefore should decline to address the argument presented here.

In the event that the Court should overlook the foregoing and decide to consider petitioner's claim here, the sentence imposed by the trial court nevertheless should be affirmed. In Lynn v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 81 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1955), this Court held that

[i]t is elementary that when a decree of the trial court is brought here on **appeal** the duty rests upon the appealing party to make error clearly appear. . . An appellant does not discharge this duty by merely posing a question with an accompanying assertion that it was improperly answered in the court below and then dumping the matter into the lap of the appellate court for decision. Under such circumstances it must be held, as we now hold here, that we are under no duty to answer the question. Id. at 513 (emphasis added, citation omitted).

Again, petitioner asks that this Court remand the case for resentencing so that the trial court may consider the sentence as within its discretion in light of the Burdick decision. Critically, however, petitioner does not contend that the trial court actually believed that it had no discretion in determining the length of the sentence it Rather, petitioner alleges only that imposed. "the transcript of the sentencing hearing does not show that Judge Southwood believed he had discretion to impose a sentence other than life imprisonment." Petitioner's brief (emphasis added). By merely surmising from a at 19 the court may purportedly unclear record that have considered the sentence nondiscretionary,³ petitioner has failed to meet his burden under Lynn of making error clearly Accordingly, this Court is under no duty to appear. consider petitioner's "argument."

There is no indication in the record that the trial judge believed that he was mandated by Section 775.084(1)(b) to impose a life sentence in petitioner's case. Rather, the only reference by the court to the mandatory nature of the statute was the court's statement that unless it found that imposition of a habitual violent felony offender sentence was not necessary for the protection of the public, it must sentence petitioner as a habitual Violent felony offender. See (T IV 302). This conclusion was a correct interpretation of Section 775.084(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1989). Furthermore, because it is apparent that the trial court believed that petitioner should be sentenced to life imprisonment so that the public would be protected from him (TIV 306), it is clear that the court would have imposed the same sentence regardless of whether that sentence was mandatory or discretionary. This Court therefore should reject petitioner's argument.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL ON THE CHARGE OF ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM.

Petitioner's final argument here is that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal. Specifically, petitioner claims his motion should have been granted because the State failed to present evidence from which the jury could find that he carried a firearm during the course of the robbery. In his jurisdictional brief in this case, petitioner sought to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction solely on the ground that in its opinion, the First District cited to Perkins v. State, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), rev. pending, Case No. 78,613 (Fla.), and Burdick, supra, both of which were pending review in this Court based on the First District's certification in those cases of questions of great public importance. However, petitioner has now raised four issues in his merits brief before this Court -- three issues relating to the Perkins and Burdick decisions, on which he based his invocation of this Court's jurisdiction; and his current argument concerning the trial court's denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal, an issue the First District did not even address in its written opinion below.

In so doing, petitioner has attempted to thwart this Court's recognition in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980), that under the constitutional plan the powers of this Court to review decisions of the district courts of appeal are limited and strictly prescribed. It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain areas specified essential to the settlement of issues public of and the preservation of importance uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

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